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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD
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	JACOB D. MILLER, 

                                  Employee, 

                                             Applicant,

                                                 v. 

KETCHIKAN PULP COMPANY,

                                 Employer,

                                                  and
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case Nos.  199003081; 198600294M
AWCB Decision No. 12-0127

Filed with AWCB Juneau, Alaska

On July 30, 2012


Jacob Miller’s (Employee) February 24, 2010, workers’ compensation claim was heard on July 10, 2012, in Juneau, Alaska.  Attorney Joseph Kalamarides represented Employee, who appeared and testified.  Attorney Robert Griffin represented Ketchikan Pulp Company (Employer).  By agreement of the parties, the record was left open until July 27, 2012, for receipt of Employee’s supplemental affidavit of attorney’s fees and costs and any objection to the supplemental affidavit Employer chose to file.  Employer did not object to Employee’s supplemental affidavit, which was filed on July 16, 2012.  The record closed on July 27, 2012, after further deliberation.

ISSUES

Employee contends he is entitled to past and ongoing medical treatment for his right hip joint conditions and symptoms, which he contends arise out of and in the course of Employee’s employment with Employer, as opined by treating physician Graeme French, M.D.  He seeks past and ongoing medical treatment and related transportation costs, including total right hip replacement, interest on unpaid medical costs, and attorney’s fees and costs.

Employer contends Employee’s continuing symptoms were not caused by Employee’s employment with Employer but are the result of Employee’s preexisting right hip dysplasia.  Employer contends Employee’s work-related injuries consisted of a strain or temporary aggravation, which resolved shortly after Employee’s 1986 work injury.  Employer contends Employee’s current symptoms are not work-related and no further medical treatment is needed attributable to the work injury, as opined by treating physician Kenneth Leung, M.D., Employer’s independent medical evaluation (EIME) physicians Barbara Jessen, M.D., and David Green, M.D., and second independent medical evaluation (SIME) physician Lowell Anderson, M.D.  It contends Employee is therefore not entitled to medical treatment and related transportation costs and, as no further benefits are due, Employee is not entitled to interest or an award of attorney’s fees and costs.

1) Does Employee’s past and ongoing need for medical treatment for his right hip joint conditions and symptoms arise out of and in the course of Employee’s employment with Employer?

2) Is Employee entitled to interest on unpaid medical benefits and an award of attorney’s fees and costs?


FINDINGS OF FACT

A review of the entire record establishes the following facts and factual conclusions by a preponderance of the evidence:

1) On September 20, 1985, Peter Crecelius, M.D., treated Employee for right hip pain.  An examination of Employee’s right hip evidenced limited range of motion.  Dr. Crecelius noted Employee had been experiencing right hip pain for three months.  Employee reported the pain kept him awake at night and Employee had to quit his job three weeks prior because of the pain.  Employee also reported a seven year history of right hip pain.  Dr. Crecelius prescribed Indocin, an anti-inflammatory.  (Chart Note, Dr. Crecelius, September 20, 1985; To Whom It May Concern Letter from Dr. Crecelius, October 16, 1985).
2) On September 23, 1985, a right hip x-ray was taken but was not adequate for definitive interpretation.  The x-ray report noted Employee had a seven year history of right hip pain with recent acute worsening.  (Radiologist Report, Dean Mahoney, M.D., September 23, 1985).
3) On September 30, 1985, Dr. Crecelius treated Employee for follow up to his right hip pain and diagnosed trochanteric bursitis exacerbated by leg length discrepancy secondary to polio.  (Chart Note, Dr. Crecelius, September 30, 1985; To Whom It May Concern Letter from Dr. Crecelius, October 16, 1985).

4) On October 16, 1985, Dr. Crecelius consulted telephonically with Employee, who reported he was pain free.  (Chart Note, Dr. Crecelius, October 16, 1985).

5) On December 31, 1985, per Employee’s wife’s request, Employee’s prescriptions were refilled, including his anti-inflammatory medicine.  Employee was working out of town at the time and his wife refilled all his prescriptions and forwarded them to Employee, although he was no longer in pain at the time.  (Chart Note, Unknown Provider, December 31, 1985; Roxie Miller Hearing Testimony).

6) In late December 1985, Employee began working as a millwright for Employer.  (Miller Hearing Testimony; Miller Deposition 15:4-12, October 28, 2010).
7) On January 14, 1986, Employee injured his back while working for Employer when he and another employee were lifting and pushing a heavy metal plate weighing approximately 200 to 300 pounds, which was on top of an approximately five foot tall steel container called a limblad.  Employee’s right foot was planted on one of the approximately one-foot-high raised blocks upon which the limblad rested.  Employee’s left foot was planted on another raised structure, possibly a box.  Employee’s weight was on his right leg when his right foot slipped off the raised block, causing Employee to fall against the limblad.  Employee felt burning in his low back and down his right leg and later pain in his right hip.  (Miller Deposition 33:15-39:8, 61:11-66:15; 91:8-96:13; Miller).
8) On January 15, 1986, Rick Wood, M.D., and Joe Shields, M.D., treated Employee for low back pain.  Employee described his injury as, “I twisted hip, low back while working picking up plate.”  (Physicians Report, Dr. Wood and Dr. Shields, January 20, 1986).
9) On January 22, 1986, Dr. Wood treated Employee for back pain and diagnosed mild lumbosacral strain, resolving, and referred Employee to physical therapy.  (Chart Note, Dr. Wood, January 22, 1986).
10) On January 23, 1986, Linda Bruseth, R.P.T., treated Employee for low back and right hip pain, which began when Employee was “lifting and twisting a heavy plate” while at work on January 14, 1986.  Employee reported pain in the right lumbar area, in the lateral aspect of the right hip, radiating into the groin and anterior thigh.  (Physical Therapy Chart Note, Bruseth, January 23, 1986).
11) On March 11, 1986, Orie Kaltenbaugh, M.D., evaluated Employee’s back pain and stated, “Since returning home, his leg pain has resolved and he is now left with some low back discomfort.”  (Chart Note, Dr. Kaltenbaugh, March 11, 1986).
12) On July 7, 1986, John Ayers, M.D., treated Employee for back pain and diagnosed chronic low back strain with previous history of pain radiating into lower extremities, mostly resolved.  Employee’s hip flexion and rotation were normal bilaterally without pain.  (Chart Note, Dr. Ayers, July 7, 1986).
13) On August 19, 1986, Dr. Ayers treated Employee for back pain and diagnosed improving low back strain.  Employee reported he was doing better and physical therapy helped.  (Chart Note, Dr. Ayers, August 19, 1986).
14) On November 20, 1986, Dr. Ayers treated Employee for back pain and leg weakness.  Employee reported he was doing well and his occasional back pain cleared up with rest.  Dr. Ayers opined Employee was medically stable with regard to his work-related low back strain.  Dr. Ayers attributed Employee’s leg weakness to “old polio” and said because of the leg weakness, Employee should not return to any work involving frequent bending, heavy lifting, or carrying.  (Chart Note, Dr. Ayers, November 20, 1986).
15) On February 13, 1987, Dr. Ayers treated Employee for back pain and leg weakness.  He stated, “It appears that he is having increased symptoms but no new physical findings other than some increased restriction of back motion.”  Dr. Ayers recommended Employee exercise more and lose weight.  (Chart Note, Dr. Ayers, February 13, 1987).
16) Employee subsequently did not seek treatment for approximately three years because his back, leg and hip symptoms had resolved and Employee returned to light duty work.  (Record; Miller).

17) On January 23, 1990, T. Conley, M.D. treated Employee for back pain.  Employee reported he initially injured his back in 1986 and then, “Suddenly on the 20th of January without injury he started having trouble with his back again” and radiating lower extremity pain.  (Chart Note, Dr. Conley, January 23, 1990).
18) On May 14, 1990, orthopedic surgeon Dr. Leung treated Employee for back and hip pain.  Dr. Leung stated Employee, “injured his back and hip at work in January of 1986.  He claims to have had no prior problems with his back or hip before the injury.”  Employee described the mechanics of injury as, “He was lifting and twisted his back, it was quite a forceful twist with his feet firmly planted on the ground.  He had immediate pain in the back and right hip area, and also felt a pop in the hip area.”  Dr. Leung diagnosed right hip severe degenerative changes.  He opined even though Employee may have had some preexisting degenerative changes, because his right hip was “totally asymptomatic until the injury,” the work injury was the main cause of Employee’s current symptoms.  (Chart Note, Dr. Leung, May 14, 1990).
19) On January 3, 1991, orthopedic surgeon Dr. French treated Employee for back and hip pain and stated Employee, “has a significantly degenerative hip which he injured in a fall.”  (Chart Note, Dr. French, January 3, 1991).
20) On April 1, 1991, neurologist Dr. Jessen and orthopedist Arthur Hauge, M.D., examined Employee for an EIME and diagnosed: (1) chronic lumbosacral strain, related to the January 14, 1986 work injury with gradual aggravation reported in 1990, (2) degenerative joint disease in lumbosacral spine, preexisting 1986 work injury with gradual progression and aggravation reported in 1990, (3) left lower extremity residual from poliomyelitis left lower extremity, unrelated to work injury, (4) degenerative arthritis, right hip, preexisting work injury but progressing since, and aggravated by, the 1986 injury; also aggravated by residuals of poliomyelitis, and (5) probable congenital hip dysplasia of the right hip preexisting 1986 work injury but aggravated by the injury with subsequent increasing work-related aggravation through January 23, 1990.  Employee reported he had no previous hip injuries or problems with his hip prior to his January 1986 injury.  Employee reported no new injury in 1990 but, “had just gradually become worse and worse.”  Dr. Hauge died on August 11, 1998.  (EIME Report, Drs. Jessen and Hauge, April 1, 1991; Notice of Intent to Rely, December 21, 2011).  

21) On September 29, 1992, Dr. Leung again opined Employee’s complaints of pain were due to Employee’s 1986 work injury.  (Letter from Dr. Leung to Joseph Kalamarides, September 29, 1992).

22) On July 12, 1993, an unknown provider treated Employee for hip and back pain and recommended Employee continue to treat these conditions with pain medication.  Hip replacement surgery was not recommended unless Employee lost weight.  (Chart Note, Unknown Provider, July 12, 1993).

23) On April 22, 2009, Dr. French treated Employee for right hip pain and recommended a right total hip replacement, stating, “Over the last four years, he has gotten to the point of not being able to walk or stand due to his right hip pain.”  (Chart Note, Dr. French, April 22, 2009).

24) On August 17, 2009, orthopedic surgeon Dr. Green examined Employee for an EIME.  Dr. Green diagnosed: (1) history of thoracolumbar strain, related to the January 14, 1986 work injury, (2) preexisting history of poliomyelitis with residuals including atrophy of the left calf and 3/8” shortening of the left lower extremity, (3) right hip dysplasia (questionable bilateral), preexisting and aggravated permanently by the leg length discrepancy secondary to poliomyelitis and other systemic diagnoses, (4) preexisting right greater trochanteric bursitis, unrelated to work injury, (5) strain of the right hip with aggravation of the right hip dysplasia, (6) history of morbid obesity, (7) history of alcohol abuse, (8) history of cigarette smoking, and (9) history of diabetes mellitus with peripheral neuropathy.  Dr. Green agreed Employee needed a right total hip replacement but opined Employee’s January 14, 1986 work injury was not a substantial factor in Employee’s need for the procedure.  Dr. Green opined Employee’s right hip acetabular dysplasia, leg length inequality, in addition to Employee’s systemic conditions of marked obesity, alcohol abuse, smoking, and diabetes mellitus, all contributed to Employee’s right hip degenerative changes, which caused Employee’s need for right hip replacement.  Dr. Green noted at the time of Employee’s January 14, 1986 injury, Employee complained of low back pain and radicular pain in his lower extremities rather than right hip pain, and only later did his right hip pain become more evident and symptomatic.  (EIME Report, Dr. Green, August 17, 2009).  

25) On September 14, 2009, Dr. Green, in response to Employer’s request for clarification of his report, opined the substantial factors in Employee’s need for total hip replacement were his acetabular dysplasia, polio residuals involving his left lower extremity creating imbalance in gait, obesity, diabetes mellitus with peripheral neuropathy and other personal habits.  (Letter from Dr. Green to Harbor Adjustment Service, September 14, 2009).
26) On January 24, 2010, Dr. French, in response to Employee’s request, stated Employee’s 1986 work injury was the first event to render Employee’s right hip dysplasia symptomatic.  He opined Employee largely recovered until his 1990 work injury, which was responsible for his continuously progressive right hip arthritis.  He opined Employee’s work injuries substantially increased the arthritis in his right hip and were significantly responsible for Employee’s need for right total hip arthroplasty.  (Letter from Dr. French to Joseph Kalamarides, January 24, 2010).
27) On February 12, 2010, Dr. Green in response to Employer’s request for clarification of his report opined Employee’s January 23, 1990 work injury is not a substantial factor in Employee’s need for total hip replacement.  (Letter from Dr. Green to Harbor Adjustment Service, February 12, 2010).
28) On June 1, 2010, Dr. French performed a total right hip arthroplasty on Employee.  (Operative Report, Dr. French, June 1, 2010).
29) On March 8, 2011, Dr. Leung amended his May 14, 1990 and September 29, 1992 opinions and said neither the January 14, 1986 nor the January 23, 1990 injury was a substantial factor in Employee’s hip condition and need for total hip replacement.  He stated his original opinion was based on Employee reporting no prior right hip conditions or symptoms before the 1986 work injury and an incomplete understanding of the injury.  After reviewing a full copy of Employee’s medical records and deposition transcript, Dr. Leung opined the 1986 injury was primarily to the lumbar spine with very little involvement of the right hip.  Employee did not injure his right hip in 1986, but instead suffered a lumbar strain with a pinched nerve, which resolved approximately one year after the injury.  He further opined the 1986 and 1990 work injuries did not change the timing for Employee’s total hip replacement and causes of Employee’s right hip replacement were (1) congenital right hip dysplasia, (2) residual from childhood polio, (3) obesity, and (4) long term steroid use for treatment of asthma, which softens bone.  (Affidavit of Dr. Leung, March 8, 2011).
30) On April 14, 2011, Employee saw orthopedic surgeon Dr. Anderson for a Board-ordered SIME.  Dr. Anderson diagnosed congenital hip dysplasia with secondary severe arthritis and opined Employee’s 1986 and 1990 work injuries were not a substantial factor in causing, aggravating, or accelerating Employee’s need for total hip replacement.  Dr. Anderson opined Employee’s 1986 work injury caused a lumbosacral strain or possible radiculopathy complaints and said his 1990 work injury was a recurrence of his 1985 and 1986 symptoms.  Dr. Anderson stated Employee received pain relief from injection to his right buttock and lumbosacral region, which in addition to pain location, precluded Employee’s 1986 work injury as aggravating his preexisting right hip pathology.  Dr. Anderson stated Employee’s right hip symptoms occurring after the 1986 and 1990 work injuries were identical to his right hip symptoms occurring before the work injuries.  Dr. Anderson said the cause for Employee’s total hip replacement was his congenital right hip dysplasia.  He explained the natural history of dysplasia is progressive arthritis, pain, and total hip replacement as a definitive treatment for such pathology, although leg length discrepancy would also contribute.  (SIME Report, Dr. Anderson, April 14, 2011).  

31) On June 25, 2011, Dr. French opined Employee’s 1986 work injury was, “the first occurrence of right hip joint pain in [Employee’s] medical record.”  He opined Employee’s 1986 and 1990 injuries significantly aggravated his right hip arthritis and rendered the arthritis disabling at an earlier point than without the combination of injuries.  (Letter from Dr. French to Joseph Kalamarides, June 25, 2011).

32) On December 16, 2011, Dr. Jessen amended her April 1, 1991 opinion.  She stated her initial causation opinion was based on an incomplete understanding of the injury and Employee’s historical account of his right hip pain, explaining, “we specifically questioned him regarding whether or not he had problems with his back or right hip prior to his January 14, 1986 work injury.”  Employee “stated he had no prior hip injuries or problems with his hip.  Relying on this history, we provided opinions regarding the causation of the hip condition. . . .”  After reviewing a full copy of Employee’s medical records and deposition transcript, Dr. Jessen opined neither the January 14, 1986 nor the January 23, 1990 injury was a substantial factor in Employee’s hip condition and need for total hip replacement.  Dr. Jessen said there was no evidence of a mechanical right hip joint problem and opined Employee did not sustain a right hip joint injury in 1986.  Dr. Jessen opined Employee’s 1986 injury was at most a temporary aggravation of Employee’s preexisting hip bursitis and also opined any aggravation of his preexisting hip symptoms subsequently resolved.  She further opined the 1986 and 1990 work injuries did not change the timing of Employee’s total hip replacement and said the cause of Employee’s right hip replacement was his congenital right hip dysplasia, with contribution from his obesity and alcoholism.  (Affidavit of Dr. Jessen, December 16, 2011).

33) On June 27, 2012, Dr. French testified there is a distinction between bursitis and hip arthritis explaining hip joint pain is generally in the groin and buttock and sometimes radiates down the thigh.  He opined in 1985, Employee had tenderness over the posterior lateral hip, evidencing bursitis.  (French Deposition 17:1-20:2).  Dr. French opined only after Employee’s 1986 work injury did Employee’s hip joint condition become symptomatic.  He opined Employee’s 1986 and 1990 injuries caused Employee to need a total hip replacement.  Dr. French opined Employee had severe hip arthritis and needed a new hip in 1991, but because of the technology available in 1991, it was not recommended for reasons including Employee’s age and weight.  (French Deposition 36:14-37:25; 40:1-12).  Dr. French’s opinion was based on his understanding Employee’s right hip joint symptoms were continuously symptomatic after the 1986 work injury and increased in severity to the point in 1990 where he could not continue working.  Dr. French opined Employee’s worsening symptoms were caused by the 1986 injury and Employee’s subsequent work activities, including heavy duty work.  Dr. French acknowledged the work injury resolved, at least for a period of time.  Dr. French stated after the work injury resolved, Employee, “started going back to work and climbing ladders and doing heavy lifting, it was low-grade symptomatic and gradually getting worse over the next three years, which still kind of tracks back to the twist and slip.”  (French Deposition 25:21-23; 36:18-20; 39:22-25; 40:17-19; 42:1-16).

34) On July 10, 2012, Dr. Leung testified Employee suffered a back strain and a temporary aggravation of his hip joint condition in 1986, which resolved approximately ten months after the 1986 work injury.  Dr. Leung stated pain symptoms from hip joint derangement usually consist of groin pain in front of the hip joint, pain in front of the thigh and sometimes pain in the knee.  Dr. Leung opined Employee’s 1986 work injury was not a substantial factor in Employee’s need for hip replacement surgery nor did it make the hip replacement occur sooner.  He based his opinion on a thorough review of the medical records and his understanding of the mechanism of the 1986 injury.  Dr. Leung opined Employee’s work activities after his January 1986 work injury could have aggravated Employee’s right hip joint condition, based on Employee reporting his right hip joint symptoms were symptomatic after he returned to work and increased in severity to the point in 1990 where he could not continue working.  Dr. Leung also opined there were objective findings of right hip joint derangement in 1985, based on Employee’s right hip limited range of motion.  (Leung).

35) Although Employee had right hip pain before his 1986 work injury, there is no evidence Employee’s right hip joint condition was symptomatic.  Employee’s right hip pain symptoms prior to his 1986 work injury were caused by right hip bursitis.  (Experience, judgment, observations).
36) Employee is a poor historian.  Employee’s testimony in this case often contradicted the documents in the record and sometimes his own prior testimony.  For example, Employee testified his back, hip and leg pain resolved for the period beginning early 1987 and ending January 1990, during which he did not seek treatment.  He also testified he had severe and worsening symptoms during this time.  (Record; Miller; Experience, judgment, observations).
37) Employee was symptom-free from early 1987 to January 1990, based on Employee’s lack of back or right hip medical care from early 1987 to January 1990, his January 23, 1990 statements to Dr. Conley reporting improvement and return to light duty work after the 1986 work injury until Employee suddenly began to have back pain again on January 20, 1990, and Employee’s history of seeking treatment when in pain.  Employee’s right hip joint symptoms did not increase or otherwise worsen from early 1987 to January 20, 1990, because he did not have any right hip joint symptoms during this time.  (Record; Miller; Experience, judgment, observations).
38) Employee injured his low back and temporarily aggravated his right hip joint condition on January 14, 1986.  Employee’s back pain resolved approximately thirteen months after the work injury.  All other work-related conditions and symptoms, including those relating to Employee’s hip joint, resolved approximately ten months after the work injury.  Employee, through time and medical treatment including physical therapy, returned to his pre-injury condition and was symptom-free by early 1987.  (Dr. Leung; Miller; Experience, judgment, observations).

39) Employee’s 1986 work injury is not a substantial factor in his need for right hip medical treatment, including right total hip replacement.  Employee’s 1986 temporary aggravation of his right hip condition is not a substantial factor in Employee’s need for medical treatment after early 1987.  The 1986 aggravation did not make Employee’s need for right total hip replacement occur sooner.  (Record; Miller; Leung; Chart Note, Dr. Conley, January 23, 1990).

40) Employee’s work activities after the January 14, 1986 work injury did not aggravate, accelerate or combine with Employee’s right hip condition or symptoms.  Employee did not have any right hip joint symptoms, including pain, from early 1987 to January 1990.  Employee’s right hip joint symptoms from January 1990 forward are a result of the natural progression of Employee’s non-work related preexisting right hip joint conditions.  Employee’s work activities after the January 14, 1986 work injury are not a substantial factor in Employee’s need for medical treatment, including right total hip replacement.  Employee’s work activities after the January 14, 1986 work injury did not make Employee’s right total hip replacement occur sooner.  (Record; Miller; Leung; Chart Note, Dr. Conley, January 23, 1990).

41) Dr. Leung is the most credible physician in this case.  (Experience, judgment, observations).

PRINCIPLES OF LAW

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-34 (Alaska 1987).  A finding reasonable persons would find employment was a cause of the Employee’s disability and impose liability is, “as are all subjective determinations, the most difficult to support.”  Id. at 534.  

At the time of Employee’s 1986 and 1990 injuries, the Act provided as follows:

AS 23.30.010. Coverage.  Compensation is payable under this chapter in respect of disability or death of an employee.

AS 23.30.095.  Medical examinations.  (a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. . . .  

“Process of recovery” language allows the board to authorize continuing care beyond two years from the date of injury.  Municipality of Anchorage, v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665-66 (Alaska 1991).  However, such language also means the board may disallow a claimant’s claim for continuing care if it does not promote recovery from the original injury.  In Carter, the court held the Act does not require the board to provide “continuing or palliative care in every instance.  Rather, the statute grants the board discretion to award such ‘indicated’ care ‘as the process of recovery may require.’”  Id. at 664.

(a) AS 23.30.120 Presumptions.  In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that 

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter; . . . .

Under AS 23.30.120(a)(1), benefits sought by an injured worker are presumed to be compensable.  Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996).  The presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute, including medical benefits.  Carter, 818 P.2d at 665; Meek, 914 P.2d at 1279; Moretz v. O’Neill Investigations, 783 P.2d 764, 766 (Alaska 1989); Olson v. AIC/Martin J.V., 818 P.2d 669, 675 (Alaska 1991). 

The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.  To attach the presumption of compensability, an employee must first establish a “preliminary link” between his or her injury and the employment.  See, e.g., Tolbert v. Alascom, Inc., 973 P.2d 603, 610 (Alaska 1999).  If the employee establishes the link, the presumption may be overcome when the employer presents substantial evidence the injury was not work-related.  Id. at 611.  An employer may rebut the presumption of compensability with an expert opinion the claimant’s work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability or need for medical treatment.  Gillispie v. B&B Foodland, 881 P.2d 1106, 1110 (Alaska 1994).  Because the board considers the employer’s evidence by itself and does not weigh the employee’s evidence against the employer’s rebuttal evidence, credibility is not examined at this point.  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 869-870 (Alaska 1985).  If the board finds the employer’s evidence is sufficient, the presumption of compensability drops out and the employee must prove his or her case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  This means the employee must “induce a belief” in the minds of the board members the facts being asserted are probably true.  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  At this point, the board weighs the evidence, determines what inferences to draw from the evidence, and considers credibility.

For work injuries occurring prior to the November 7, 2005 effective date of the 2005 amendments to the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act, a work injury is compensable where the employment is “a substantial factor” in bringing about the disability or need for medical care. Ketchikan Gateway Borough v. Saling, 604 P.2d 590, 597-98 (Alaska 1979).  A work injury is a substantial factor in bringing about the disability or need for medical care if the claimant would not have suffered disability at the same time, in the same way, or to the same degree but for the work injury. Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 532-33 (Alaska 1987).

A preexisting disease or infirmity does not disqualify a claim if the employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the disease or infirmity to produce the disability from which compensation is sought.  Wilson v. Erickson, 477 P.2d 1988 (Alaska 1970).  The question whether employment aggravated or accelerated a preexisting disease or injury is one of fact to be determined by the board.  Burgess Constr. Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312 (Alaska 1981).

AS 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses.  The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

The board’s finding of credibility “is binding for any review of the Board’s factual findings.”  Smith v. CSK Auto, Inc., 204 P.3d 1001, 1008 (Alaska 2009).  The board has the sole power to determine witness credibility, and its findings about weight are conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting.  See, e.g., Harnish Group, Inc. v. Moore, 160 P.3d 146, 153 (Alaska 2007); Thoeni v. Consumer Electronic Services, 151 P.3d 1249, 1253 (Alaska 2007); Municipality of Anchorage v. Devon, 124 P.3d 424, 431 (Alaska 2005).  The board has the sole discretion to determine the weight of the medical testimony and reports.  When doctors’ opinions disagree, the board determines which has greater credibility.  Moore v. Afognak Native Corp., Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 087 at 11 (Aug. 25, 2008).

AS 23.30.145.  Attorney Fees. (a) Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded.  When the board advises that a claim has not been controverted, but further advises that bona fide legal services have been rendered in respect to the claim, then the board shall direct the payment of the fees out of the compensation awarded.  In determining the amount of fees the board shall take into consideration the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, transportation charges, and the benefits resulting from the services to the compensation beneficiaries.

(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including reasonable attorney fees.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

Subsection 145(b) requires an employer to pay reasonable attorney’s fees when the employer delays or “otherwise resists” payment of compensation and the employee’s attorney successfully prosecutes his claim.  Harnish Group, Inc., 160 P.3d at 150-51.

8 AAC 45.142 currently provides:

8 AAC 45.142.  Interest.  (a)  If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010 for an injury that occurred before July 1, 2000, and at the rate established in AS 09.30.070(a) for injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid. . . .

(b) The employer shall pay the interest

(1) on late-paid medical benefits to 

. . .

(B) to an insurer, trust, organization, or government agency, if the insurer, trust, organization, or government agency has paid the provider of the medical benefits; or 

(C) to the provider if the medical benefits have not been paid.

ANALYSIS

1)  Does Employee’s past and ongoing need for medical treatment for his right hip joint conditions and symptoms arise out of and in the course of Employee’s employment with Employer?

The parties dispute whether Employee’s need for treatment for his right hip joint conditions and symptoms, including total right hip replacement, is work-related.  More specifically, the parties disagree whether Employee’s 1986 injury or subsequent job duties was a substantial factor in his need for right hip medical treatment.  The presumption of compensability applies to these factual disputes.

A) Did Employee’s 1986 work injury or subsequent job duties aggravate, accelerate or combine with Employee’s preexisting right hip joint conditions and symptoms?

Employee attached the presumption of compensability to his claim his employment aggravated, accelerated or combined with his preexisting condition with Dr. French’s opinion Employee’s right hip dysplasia was worsened by 1986 and 1990 work injuries.   This evidence is sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability and cause it to attach to Employee’s claim.  

Employer rebutted the presumption with the opinions of Drs. Jessen and Anderson, who opine Employee’s 1986 and 1990 work injuries did not aggravate, accelerate or combine with Employee’s preexisting right hip joint condition.  Dr. Jessen said Employee suffered a temporary, but subsequently resolved, aggravation of his right hip bursitis in 1986 and did not sustain an injury to his right hip joint in either 1986 or 1990.  Dr. Anderson stated Employee received an injection to the right buttock and lumbosacral region in 1986, which provided significant relief of his symptoms.  Dr. Anderson said pain relief from such an injection precluded identification of the 1986 injury as aggravating Employee’s preexisting right hip pathology.  Dr. Anderson opined Employee suffered a lumbosacral strain in 1986 and temporary aggravation of preexisting lumbar degenerative disc disease in 1990, both of which resolved shortly after the work injuries.  He said Employee’s right hip joint symptoms were a natural progression of his preexisting degenerative changes and dysplasia pathology.  Drs. Jessen and Anderson’s opinions standing alone are substantial evidence rebutting the presumption, because they rule out Employee’s employment as a cause of Employee’s worsening complaints and symptoms, including worsening pain.  Their reports also provide an alternative explanation for Employee’s symptoms.

Once Employer rebutted the presumption of compensability, Employee must prove his claim employment with Employer aggravated, accelerated or combined with his preexisting right hip joint condition by a preponderance of the evidence.  Employee meets this burden with regard to his 1986 injury.  Objective findings of right hip joint derangement existed in 1985, based on Employee’s limited range of motion during a September 1985 examination.  Although Employee had right hip pain before his 1986 work injury, there is no evidence Employee’s right hip joint condition was symptomatic.  Drs. French and Leung explained hip joint pain generally includes pain in the groin and sometimes in the thigh.  There is no evidence Employee had groin or thigh pain, symptoms associated with a hip joint injury, prior to his 1986 work injury.  Employee’s right hip pain symptoms prior to his 1986 work injury were caused by his right hip bursitis.  

Drs. French, Leung and Green all opine Employee’s 1986 work injury aggravated his preexisting hip joint condition, although Drs. Leung and Green also say the aggravation was temporary.  Dr. Jessen opined the 1986 work injury aggravated Employee’s hip bursitis, not his hip joint condition.  She based her opinion on what she saw as a lack of evidence of a “mechanical” right hip joint problem after Employee’s 1986 injury.  However, Employee reported groin and thigh pain soon after the 1986 work injury.  These reported symptoms are consistent with a hip joint injury as explained by Drs. French and Leung.  Dr. Jessen’s opinion on this issue is consequently given less weight.  

Dr. Anderson based his opinion the 1986 work injury did not aggravate Employee’s underlying hip joint condition on a misunderstanding of Employee’s right hip symptoms before and after the work injury.  Dr. Anderson stated Employee’s symptoms after his 1986 work injury were identical to those before it, but the record shows Employee’s symptoms before and after the work injury were not identical.  There is no evidence Employee had groin or thigh pain, symptoms associated with a hip joint injury, prior to his 1986 work injury.  Dr. Anderson’s opinion on this issue is consequently also given less weight.  Employee has proven by a preponderance of the evidence his 1986 work injury aggravated his preexisting right hip joint condition.

Employee does not meet his burden with regard to an alleged 1990 work injury.  Dr. French’s opinion Employee’s 1990 work injury aggravated his underlying right hip joint condition and symptoms was based on Employee’s inaccurate historical account of his 1990 “work injury” and symptoms following his 1986 work injury.  Dr. French incorrectly understood Employee’s right hip joint symptoms were continuously symptomatic after the 1986 work injury and increased in severity to the point in 1990 where he could not continue working.  Dr. French opined Employee’s worsening symptoms were caused by Employee’s 1986 injury and subsequent work activities, including heavy duty work.  Dr. Hauge also based his work-related-aggravation opinion on Employee’s inaccurate historical account of his symptoms after his 1986 work injury.  

However, Employee was symptom-free from early 1987 to January 1990, based on the record, which shows Employee did not seek back or right hip medical care from early 1987 to January 1990, his January 23, 1990 statements to Dr. Conley reporting improvement and return to light duty work after the 1986 work injury until Employee suddenly began to have back pain again on January 20, 1990, and his history of seeking treatment when in pain.  Employee’s right hip joint symptoms did not increase or otherwise worsen from early 1987 to January 20, 1990, because he was symptom-free during this time period.  Drs. French and Hauge’s opinions on this issue are consequently given little weight.  The preponderance of the evidence shows Employee’s work activities after his 1986 injury did not aggravate, accelerate or combine with his preexisting right hip joint condition to cause disability or need for medical treatment.  

Prior to his 1986 work injury, Employee’s preexisting right hip joint condition was asymptomatic, according to the medical evidence.  This lack of symptoms, coupled with Drs. French, Leung and Green opinions the 1986 work injury aggravated Employee’s preexisting right hip joint condition, is the evidence given greatest weight on this issue.  Employee has proven by a preponderance of the evidence his 1986 work injury aggravated his preexisting right hip joint condition.  Employee has not proven by a preponderance of the evidence his job duties following the 1986 work injury aggravated, accelerated or combined with his preexisting right hip joint condition.

B) Was Employee’s 1986 work injury or subsequent work activities a substantial factor in his need for right hip medical treatment, including total right hip replacement?

Employee attached the presumption of compensability with Dr. French’s opinion Employee’s need for right hip joint medical treatment, including right total hip replacement, is because of Employee’s 1986 and 1990 work injuries.  This evidence is sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability for Employee’s medical treatment claim for his right hip joint conditions and symptoms.

To rebut the presumption, Employer relies on the opinions of Drs. Leung, Green, Jessen and Anderson.  They say Employee’s 1986 work injury was not a substantial factor in Employee’s need for right hip joint medical treatment.  They opine Employee’s work activities following the 1986 work injury are not a substantial factor in Employee’s need for right hip joint medical treatment.  They state the natural progression of Employee’s preexisting right hip joint condition is the cause of Employee’s worsening symptoms and need for medical treatment.  Drs. Leung, Green, Jessen and Anderson’s opinions standing alone are substantial evidence rebutting the presumption because they rule out Employee’s employment as a cause of Employee’s complaints and symptoms, including worsening pain.  Their reports also provide an alternative explanation for Employee’s symptoms.

Once Employer rebuts the presumption of compensability, Employee must prove his claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  Employee is unable to meet this burden.  Initially, Drs. French, Leung, Jessen and Hauge opined Employee’s employment with employer was a substantial factor in his need for right hip joint medical treatment.  However, after a thorough review of Employee’s complete medical records and deposition transcript, Drs. Leung and Jessen opined neither the 1986 work injury nor the January 1990 “work injury” was a substantial factor in Employee’s need for right hip medical treatment, including right total hip replacement.  They opined neither the 1986 work injury nor the January 1990 “work injury” made Employee’s right total hip replacement occur sooner.  They explained their original opinions were based on Employee reporting he had no prior right hip conditions or symptoms before the 1986 work injury and an incomplete understanding of the injury.  

Dr. Jessen subsequently stated Employee’s 1986 injury was at most a temporary aggravation of Employee’s preexisting hip bursitis and also opined any aggravation of his preexisting hip symptoms subsequently resolved.  She further opined the 1986 and 1990 work injuries did not change the timing for Employee’s total hip replacement and also said the cause of Employee’s right hip replacement was his congenital right hip dysplasia, with contribution from his obesity and alcoholism.  Dr. Leung subsequently opined Employee’s work-related right hip joint pain complaints had resolved approximately ten months after his January 1986 injury.  Drs. Leung and Jessen’s subsequent opinions lessen the weight of their earlier statements relating Employee’s pain symptoms to his work injury.  Their initial opinions are not strong evidence Employee’s ongoing complaints and symptoms are work related.  Their amended opinions support Employer’s contention Employee’s ongoing complaints and symptoms are not work related.

The only physicians to now link Employee’s right hip joint condition and symptoms occurring after early 1987 to his employment with Employer is Dr. French and Dr. Hauge.  Dr. French was under the mistaken impression Employee’s right hip joint symptoms were continuously symptomatic after the 1986 work injury and increased in severity to the point in 1990 where he could not continue working.  Dr. French opined Employee’s worsening symptoms were caused by the 1986 injury and Employee’s subsequent work activities, including heavy duty work.  Dr. French acknowledge the work injury resolved, at least for a period of time.  Dr. French stated after the work injury resolved, Employee, “started going back to work and climbing ladders and doing heavy lifting, it was low-grade symptomatic and gradually getting worse over the next three years, which still kind of tracks back to the twist and slip.”  

However, as stated above in section A, Employee was symptom-free from early 1987 to January 1990.  Employee’s right hip joint symptoms did not increase or otherwise worsen from early 1987 to January 20, 1990, because there were no symptoms.  Dr. Hauge also based his 1991 opinion on an inaccurate historical account of Employee’s symptoms after his 1986 work injury.  Employee is a poor historian and Drs. French and Hauge’s opinions were based on Employee’s inaccurate historical account of his subsequent symptoms.  Their opinions are consequently given little weight.

Greatest weight is given to the opinion of Dr. Leung, Employee’s past treating physician and an orthopedic surgeon.  Dr. Leung acknowledged Employee may have experienced a temporary aggravation of his underlying hip joint condition but opined any temporary aggravation resolved approximately ten months after the work injury.  Dr. Leung opined the 1986 injury was primarily to the lumbar spine with very little involvement of the right hip.  As Dr. Leung stated, Employee’s symptoms from his 1986 work injury resolved completely by early 1987 and Employee returned to work light duty.  Employee did not have further symptoms or need right hip joint medical care until January 20, 1990, when Employee had a sudden onset of back and radiating lower extremity pain without any new injury.  Dr. Leung’s opinion Employee’s need for right hip joint medical treatment is not work-related is very credible.  His opinion, coupled with the medical record and facts of this case, presents strong and persuasive evidence Employee’s need for right hip joint medical care after early 1987 did not arise out of and in the course of Employee’s employment with Employer.
Less weight is given to SIME physician Dr. Anderson because he incorrectly understood Employee’s symptoms after his 1986 work injury to be identical to those before it.  The record shows Employee’s symptoms before and after the work injury were not identical.  Less weight is also given to neurologist Dr. Jessen, as her field of expertise is neurology and not orthopedics.

The preponderance of evidence demonstrates Employee’s 1986 temporary aggravation of his preexisting right hip joint conditions resolved by early 1987, when he improved, returned to light duty work, and no longer needed right hip joint medical care.  Employee, through time and medical treatment including physical therapy, returned to his pre-injury condition, and was symptom-free, by early 1987.  Employee’s 1986 work injury is not a substantial factor in Employee’s right hip joint medical treatment after early 1987 nor did it make Employee’s hip replacement occur sooner.  Employee’s work activities after his January 14, 1986 injury did not aggravate, accelerate or combine with his preexisting condition so as to be a substantial factor in his need for right hip joint medical treatment, including right total hip replacement, nor did it make Employee’s hip replacement occur sooner.  Employee’s right hip joint complaints and symptoms after early 1987 are a result of the natural progression of Employee’s non-work related preexisting right hip joint condition.  Specifically, as Dr. Leung opined, the causes of Employee’s right hip replacement were (1) congenital right hip dysplasia, (2) residual from childhood polio, (3) obesity, and (4) long term steroid use for treatment of asthma, which softens bone.  Accordingly, his claims for past and ongoing medical benefits related to these complaints and symptoms will be denied.

2)  Is Employee entitled to interest on unpaid medical benefits and an award of attorney’s fees and costs?

Employee failed to meet his burden of proving his ongoing complaints and symptoms are work-related.  Employee’s 1986 work injury resolved by early 1987.  Employee’s subsequent job duties did not increase or otherwise worsen Employee’s conditions or symptoms.  The foundation for Employee’s claims for interest and an award of attorney’s fees and costs was the work-relatedness of his conditions and symptoms.  In the absence of adequate proof of work-relatedness, Employee is not entitled to these benefits.  [image: image1.wmf]

The evidence does not support an award of additional benefits for the reasons stated in section one, above.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1) 
Employee’s past and ongoing need for medical treatment for his right hip conditions and symptoms, including total right hip replacement, does not arise out of and in the course of Employee’s employment with Employer.

2) Employee is not entitled to interest on unpaid medical benefits or an award of attorney’s fees and costs.

ORDER

1) Employee’s claim for past and ongoing medical treatment for his right hip conditions and symptoms, including total right hip replacement, is denied.

2)  Employee’s claims for interest on unpaid medical benefits and an award of attorney’s fees and costs are denied.

Dated in Juneau, Alaska on July 30 , 2012.
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Charles M. Collins, Member

APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the board and all other parties to the proceedings before the board.  If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127.

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.
CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of JACOB D. MILLER employee / applicant v. KETCHIKAN PULP COMPANY, employer; LOUISIANA - PACIFIC CORP., insurer / defendants; Case Nos. 199003081; 198600294M; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board in Juneau, Alaska, on July 30, 2012.





Melinda Place, Workers’ Compensation Technician
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